# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-10-2014

## City of Challis v. Consent of Governed Caucus Appellant's Brief Dckt. 41956

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### *Nature of the Case*

This is a special proceeding brought pursuant to Chapter 13, Title 7, IDAHO CODE, seeking judicial confirmation to incur public debt as allowed by the *proviso* clause of Article VIII, Section 3, IDAHO CONSTITUTION. The public debt sought in this action relates to a public drinking water system serving Challis, Idaho.

#### Proceedings Below

Respondent (Petitioner below), the City of Challis (herein "Challis"), initiated this action on August 29, 2013. R Vol. 1, p. 8. The action was initiated as an *in rem* proceeding under Idaho's *Judicial Confirmation Law* seeking judicial approval to incur \$3.2 million in public indebtedness for alleged "ordinary and necessary expenses" related to the public drinking water system serving Challis. R Vol. 1, p. 14. On October 1, 2013, Consent of the Governed Caucus and Clarence Leuzinger (herein "the Caucus") appeared in the action as Respondents (now Appellants) contesting the necessity of the indebtedness. R Vol. 1, p. 17. The Caucus generally is composed of property owners, taxpayers, electors and rate payers in Challis. R Vol. 1, p. 17.

An evidentiary hearing was held on the petition filed by Challis on January 17, 2014. R Vol. 2, p. 375. Thereat, testimony was received from Mark Lupher (the Challis mayor), Corey Rice (the Superintendent of Public Works for Challis), Donald Acheson (the City Engineer for Challis) and Jak Hammond (an engineer retained by the Caucus). R Vol. 2, p. 375. On February 5, 2014, the Court entered a *Decision and Order* that included findings of fact and conclusions of law. R Vol. 2, p. 377-390. Ultimately, the Court sided with Challis. R Vol. 2, p. 377-390. A *Judgment* was entered March 19, 2014 granting judicial confirmation as requested by Challis. R Vol. 2, p. 413.

This appeal followed. Challis made no request for an award of court costs or attorney fees as part of the proceedings below.

#### Disposition Below

In the proceedings below, the district court granted the request for judicial confirmation made by Challis, thereby entitling Challis to incur \$3.2 million in public indebtedness for purposes of making improvements to its public drinking water system. R Vol. 2, p. 377-390, 413. The improvements relate to three distinct parts of the public drinking water system - mainlines in old town; expansion to the airport, and new metering and telemetry. R Vol. 2, p. 377-390, 413.

#### Statement of Facts

Challis is a body politic and municipal corporation organized and existing pursuant to Idaho law. R Vol. 1, p. 8-9, and Vol. 2, p. 378. Challis is authorized by law to, and does in fact, own, operate and maintain a public drinking water system (herein "the System"). R Vol. 1, p. 9, and Vol. 2, p. 378. Challis determined that it needed to undertake a project for the purpose of (a) making Old Town distribution system improvements, (b) constructing a new airport water line service extension, and (c) upgrading metering and telemetry (herein "the Project"). R Vol. 1, p. 132. Challis contended these improvements were necessary and that it needed debt financing in order to (1) "meet the State of Idaho requirements for Ground Water Source Redundancy"; (2) "meet the State of Idaho requirements for . . . Redundant Fire Flow Capacity"; (3) correct "violation of the Idaho Rules for Public Drinking Water Systems"; (4) "obtain the required amount of clean drinking water"; and (5) "obtain the required amount of . . . fire flow". R Vol. 1, p. 10, 13.

The Old Town improvement includes replacing 4-inch pipes with larger pipes, installing new fire hydrants, looping dead end pipes, installing pressure reduction stations, and making associated

roadway improvements. R Vol. 1, p. 132. The airport expansion consists of extending new 6-inch and larger main pipes to the airport and installing fire hydrants. R Vol. 1, p. 132. The metering and telemetry upgrade consists of replacing all existing water meters in Challis with auto-read equipment, providing software, coordination and training for the auto-read system and new accounting system, and upgrading Challis' SCADA system. R Vol. 1, p. 132. Challis has insufficient funds on hand, and insufficient annual revenues, to complete the Project and therefore proposes to incur \$3,200,000 in debt to be financed over a term of thirty years and to be paid from revenues of the System. R Vol. 1, p. 11-12.

The amount of debt proposed to be incurred by Challis exceeds its annual revenues. Tr Vol. 1, p. 7. For fiscal year 2012-2013, Challis budgeted \$1,635,423 in revenue from all sources, including revenue-producing systems such as the water system. R. Vol. 1, p. 46. In actuality, the fiscal year 2012-2013 revenues of Challis, from all sources, totaled \$1,078,400.11. R Vol. 2, p. 352. For its last fiscal year Challis over-projected revenues by more than one-half million dollars. R Vol. 2, p. 352. As a result of the foregoing, it is clear that the proposed indebtedness is more than three times Challis' annual revenues. R Vol. 2, p. 352. System expenses for Challis' last fiscal year were projected at \$572,424. R Vol. 2, p. 352. Water revenues for Challis in its last fiscal year were \$210,308.67. R Vol. 2, p. 352. As a result of the foregoing, it is clear that given operating costs of the System, and the amortized payments of the proposed indebtedness (testified to be in the range of \$200,000 per year), water fund expenditures if the proposed indebtedness is incurred will be more than three times the annual water revenues. R Vol. 2, p. 352.

Challis began studying its System approximately four years ago. Tr Vol. 1, p. 9. With respect to fire flow service at the airport, that has been a concern of Challis, historically, for many

years before that. Tr Vol. 1, p. 62-63. By April, 2011, Challis knew that its System had vulnerabilities and that there was a need to upgrade the water distribution system, metering and telemetry. Tr Vol. 1, p. 10. By May, 2011, the City Engineer presented Challis with options to address the System vulnerability and upgrade needs. Tr Vol. 1, p. 10-11. By July, 2011, Challis was evaluating and prioritizing those options. Tr Vol. 1, p. 11. Between August, 2011, and October, 2012, Challis did not approve any project to address the System vulnerabilities or upgrades, and did not seek judicial confirmation of financing to make improvements, and did not submit a revenue bond election to its citizens for approval to proceed with financing to make improvements. Tr Vol. 1, p. 11-13. This is despite the fact that Challis purports that the water system was a threat to public health and safety at that time. Tr Vol. 1, p. 20. In November, 2012, Challis explored cost options to begin the improvements sought through this proceeding. Tr Vol. 1, p. 13. Between November, 2012, and August, 2013, Challis did not approve any project to address the System vulnerabilities or upgrades, and did not seek judicial confirmation of financing to make improvements, and did not submit a revenue bond election to its citizens for approval to proceed with financing to make improvements. Tr Vol. 1, p. 13.

Presently, Challis is not maintaining its System subject to any noncompliance order of the State of Idaho or any fire authority. Tr Vol. 1, p. 18, 34, 36. Challis' water is safe and meets all water quality standards. Tr Vol. 1, p. 26-27, 36. Challis' water has no history of contamination or water quality problems, and Challis received an award for having the best tasting drinking water in the State of Idaho in 2013. Tr Vol. 1, p. 28-29. Although portions of the System are not in compliance with current DEQ regulations, the System is "grandfathered" and compliance is not required except as to new construction and repairs. Tr Vol. 1, p. 27-28. For example, although the

System does not meet DEQ requirements for groundwater source redundancy and redundant fire flow capacity, Challis is not legally required to immediately comply with such rules. Tr Vol. 1, p. 44-45. Even if Challis was out of compliance, it has the ability to seek a waiver or extension based on economic infeasibility, but Challis has not sought such relief. Tr Vol. 1, p. 45-46.

With respect to fire flow capacity, Challis was unable to prove that its 4-inch hydrants are unable to meet fire demand when connected to a pumper truck. Tr Vol. 1, p. 71-72. Furthermore, Challis conducted no study to determine flow needs at the airport and options to provide fire flow demand at the airport through means other than expansion of distribution lines. Tr Vol. 1, p. 82-83, 123-124.

There is no legal requirement that Challis replace all of its water meters. Tr Vol. 1, p. 28. Furthermore, the current metering system poses no danger to public health or safety. Tr Vol. 1, p. 37-39, 64-65, 116. As such, replacement of meters is something Challis could do incrementally, as operating funds allow. Tr Vol. 1, p. 40, 87-88. A public drinking water system can meet its public needs and demands in the absence of metering. Tr Vol. 1, p. 126-128.

Challis has never sought an extension of time to obtain low-interest financing in order to have the Project approved by a confirmatory vote of its citizens, despite the fact that extensions of time are available and have been granted to Challis on one or more occasions. Tr Vol. 1, p. 22. There is no legal requirement that <u>all</u> aspects of the Project be completed immediately. Tr Vol. 1, p. 89. There is no immediate and ongoing health or safety problem in the City requiring that <u>all</u> aspects of the Project be done immediately. Tr Vol. 1, p. 89.

There is no dispute between the parties that the indebtedness sought by Challis exceeds its annual income and revenue. R Vol. 2, p. 356. There is no dispute between the parties that Challis

has not obtained the assent of its qualified electors to incur the indebtedness. R Vol. 2, p. 356. There is further no dispute between the parties that the Project expenses are ordinary, authorized by the general laws of the State, and relate to Challis' ownership, operation and maintenance of the System. R Vol. 2, p. 356. The dispute in this action is whether the expense sought – \$3.2 million for the Project – is "necessary." R Vol. 2, p. 356.

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Was it proper for the district court to grant judicial confirmation to a city to incur public debt without the assent of its electors where the purpose of the indebtedness was to incur expenses that were not necessary or emergently needed?
- 2. Did the district court properly apply controlling constitutional law related to the *proviso clause* of Article VIII, Section 3 of the IDAHO CONSTITUTION?
- 3. Are the district court's findings of fact supported by substantial and competent evidence?
- 4. Is the Caucus entitled to costs and attorney fees on appeal pursuant to IDAHO CODE §§ 7-1313 and 12-101?

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

As to factual findings, the Court "defers to the factual findings of the district court unless those findings are clearly erroneous." <u>City of Boise v. Frazier</u>, 143 Idaho 1, 3 (2006). The Court has free review over "application of the relevant law to the facts." <u>Id.</u> "Constitutional issues are questions of law over which [the Court] also exercise[s] free review." <u>Id.</u> at 3-4.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The IDAHO CONSTITUTION requires a city to obtain the consent of its electorate before incurring public debt, unless the expense is "ordinary and necessary." Over time, the word "necessary" has been interpreted by this Court to mean that the expense for which debt is sought must be truly urgent - it must be an expense that must be incurred during the present year. This Court has further held that "necessary" expenses are those a city is compelled to incur by law, without any discretion to act otherwise. This Court has also determined an expense is "necessary" if it must be incurred to repair public property impaired by some casualty or accident that results in a threat to public safety. Here, the district court failed to recognize and apply the foregoing interpretations, and granted judicial confirmation without a proper factual basis. The district court erred not only in determination of the facts, but in its application of correct, controlling law. Challis has been discussing and debating aspects of the Project for over four years, demonstrating a lack of urgency. The System serving Challis provides the best drinking water in Idaho and it is not out of compliance with DEQ regulations - to the contrary, compliance with new DEQ regulations is not presently required of Challis. No casualty or accident has occurred in Challis, in relation to the System, creating a public health risk. Because of these circumstances, the Court erred in granting judicial confirmation, and the district court ought to be reversed.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE IDAHO CONSTITUTION CONTAINS ONE EXCEPTION TO VOTER APPROVAL OF PUBLIC DEBT, AND THE JUDICIAL CONFIRMATION LAW ALLOWS THE COURT TO DETERMINE WHETHER THAT EXCEPTION APPLIES TO UNIQUE CIRCUMSTANCES.

The IDAHO CONSTITUTION, at Article VIII, section 3, provides that -

[n]o... city... shall incur any indebtedness, or liability, in any manner, or for any purpose, exceeding in that year, the income and revenue provided for it for such year, without the assent of two thirds (2/3) of the qualified electors thereof voting at an election to be held for that purpose...: **Provided, that this section shall not be construed to apply to the ordinary and necessary expenses authorized by the general laws of the state**.

Id. (emphasis added). The latter clause of the foregoing is commonly known as the *proviso clause*. City of Boise v. Frazier, 143 Idaho 1, 3 (2006). The Idaho Legislature has conferred on District Courts the power to determine whether proposed public indebtedness to undertake public projects fits within the confines of the *proviso clause*. See Idaho *Judicial Confirmation Law*, IDAHO CODE § 7-1301 *et seq*. When a public body seeks judicial confirmation, it must file with the district court a petition, and provide notice thereof to the public, setting forth the legal and factual basis for incurring public debt pursuant to the *proviso clause*. IDAHO CODE §§ 7-1304(2), 7-1308.

As is relevant to this action, the district court was required to find the legal and factual basis for Challis' proposed debt under the *proviso clause* in its original petition. Clearly, Challis is authorized by law to, and does in fact, own, operate and maintain its System. Challis desired to undertake the Project for the purpose of (a) making Old Town distribution system improvements, (b) constructing a new airport service line extension, and (c) upgrading metering and telemetry. Challis readily acknowledges that it has insufficient funds on hand, and insufficient annual revenues, to complete the Project and therefore wanted to incur \$3,200,000 in debt to be financed over a term

of thirty years and to be paid from revenues of the System. Challis contends it needs debt financing without voter approval in order to comply with State of Idaho regulations, to obtain clean drinking water and to meet necessary fire flow. R Vol. 1, p. 10, 13. Consequently, the district court had to determine that one or more of these circumstances existed, and if so, that the Project met the needs of that circumstance and that the indebtedness was appropriate under the *proviso clause*.

# II. THE PROVISO CLAUSE REQUIRES THAT THE EXPENSE BE BOTH ORDINARY AND NECESSARY.

This Court has been clear that the *proviso clause* is required to be read in the conjunctive – the expense must be both ordinary and necessary. <u>City of Boise</u>, 143 Idaho at 4. In this action, there is no dispute between the parties that the Project expenses are ordinary, authorized by the general laws of the State, and relate to Challis' ownership, operation and maintenance of the System. The dispute in this action is whether the expense sought – \$3.2 million for the Project – is "necessary."

The district court failed to recognize and apply controlling law, as set forth in <u>City of Boise v. Frazier</u>, as to the meaning of "ordinary" within the *proviso clause*. In fact, in its decision, the district court only referenced the <u>City of Boise v. Frazier</u> case in its discussion of "ordinary" expenses, and in its discussion of "necessary" expenses completely ignored this Court's application of that term as articulated in <u>City of Boise v. Frazier</u>. R Vol. 2, p. 385-388. This was clear and fundamental error by the district court as it did not even apply this Court's current interpretation of the *proviso clause*.

This Court has explained the meaning of what constitutes a "necessary" expense. Current, controlling precedent dictates that a "necessary" expense is one that is "indispensable." <u>City of Boise</u>, 143 Idaho at 4. This Court has explained that this means the expense must be "truly urgent,"

meaning "there must exist a necessity for making the expenditure at or during such year." City of Boise, 143 Idaho at 4, 5. The district court completely ignored this precedent. This Court has explained that a permanent courthouse is not a necessary expense and requires voter approval, while a temporary jail is a necessary expense as it is a stop-gap measure while a permanent solution is determined by the people. City of Boise, 143 Idaho at 5, citing Bannock County v. C. Bunting & Co., 4 Idaho 156 (1894). This Court recognizes that an expense is "necessary" if a specific duty is imposed by law so that **no discretion** is left with the city. Dexter Horton Trust & Sav. Bank v. Clearwater County, 235 F. 743, 752 (D. Idaho 1916), affirmed 248 F. 401 (9th Cir. 1918). This Court has also agreed that an expense is "necessary" if casualty or accident impairs or injures public property that must be immediately restored in order to protect the city from fire, or for the city's health and welfare. Hickey v. City of Nampa, 22 Idaho 41, 45 (1912). All of these concepts and precedent were not applied by the district court in reaching its decision.

It is important for this Court to recognize its solemn duty on the Constitutional question presented by this action. The *proviso clause* is restrictive and narrow in its applicability, representing the fundamental right of the electorate to determine when and under what circumstances public debt ought to be incurred. Importantly, this Court has explained that –

The Idaho Constitution is imbued with the spirit of economy, and in so far as possible it imposes upon the political subdivisions of the state a pay-as-you-go system of finance. The rule is that, without the express assent of the qualified electors, municipal officers are not to incur debts for which they have not the funds to pay. Such policy entails a measure of crudity and inefficiency in local government, but doubtless the men who drafted the Constitution, having in mind disastrous examples of optimism and extravagance on the part of public officials, thought best to sacrifice a measure of efficiency for a degree of safety. The careful, thrifty citizen sometimes gets along with a crude instrumentality until he is able to purchase and pay for something better. And likewise, under the Constitution, county officers must use the means they have for making fair and equitable assessments until they are able

# to pay for something more efficient, or obtain the consent of those in whose interests they are supposed to act.

<u>Dexter</u>, 235 F. at 754 (emphasis added). This Court often returns to this explanation in cases involving judicial confirmation. This language demonstrates that economic convenience is not a basis to avoid constitutional requirements. Even if a public work is crude and inefficient, and in desperate need of modernization, the decision on whether to permanently improve the public work by incurring debt is one of the people, not of its elected representatives, unless the expense is urgently needed within the current year. The circumstances of this action did not provide a basis for the district court, or Challis, to circumvent the assent of the governed – those that must pay the bill.

# III. THE PROJECT PROPOSED BY CHALLIS IS NOT URGENT AND THE PROJECT EXPENSES NEED NOT BE INCURRED THIS YEAR.

Clearly the law requires that, in order for the Project to be deemed necessary under the *proviso clause*, the Project must be "truly urgent" **and** "there must exist a necessity for making the expenditure at or during" the current year. <u>City of Boise</u>, 143 Idaho at 4, 5. The district court erred in determining that the Project is truly urgent, and that the Project expenditures must be made this year. Challis' own engineer agreed that aspects of the Project can be put off and completed later (i.e. meter replacement). Moreover, the lengthy history of the Project in itself demonstrates a lack of urgency. Challis' own engineer recommended the Project in the summer of 2011. The action was heard by the district court in early 2014 and the Project had not yet begun. It was clearly erroneous for the district court to determine that the Project was urgent in light of this candid evidence.

Challis city leaders have discussed and debated the Project over a four year period. The circumstances have not changed. If the city leaders truly felt the Project was emergently necessary, judicial confirmation would have been brought four, three or two years ago. The fact that these

issues have been subject to debate and discussion for such a lengthy period of time confirms that the Project is not urgently needed.

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