Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-4-2014

City of Challis v. Consent of Governed Caucus Respondent's Brief Dckt. 41956

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

V. ANALYSIS

A. "Necessary" under Idaho Const. art. VIII, § 3.

The only issue remaining on appeal is whether the proposed expenditures are necessary pursuant to the *proviso* clause under Idaho Const. art. VIII, § 3.³² As this Court noted in *City of Boise v. Frazier*, 143 Idaho 1, 2-3, 137 P.3d 388, 389-390 (2006),

Article VIII, § 3 of the Idaho Constitution generally bars cities from incurring debts or liabilities without first conducting an election to secure voter approval for the proposed expenditure. The section, however, contains a notable exception. No public vote is required if the expenditure is for an "ordinary and necessary" expense "authorized by the general laws of the state...." This exception is referred to as the "proviso clause."

This Court has addressed the *proviso* clause on numerous occasions. Taking excerpts of many such opinions out of their factual context, the Caucus takes a myopic and untenable interpretation of the *proviso* clause. The Caucus argues that to be necessary the expenditure: 1) must *in all*

³⁰ As expressed in *Twin Falls*, 96 Idaho at 501, 531 P.2d at 591 "every legislative enactment is entitled to a strong presumption of constitutionality". This is analogous to the plethora of case law governing the standard of review of legislative decisions in the land use arena. See *Payette River Prop. Owners Ass'n v. Bd. of Comm'rs of Valley County*, 132 Idaho 551, 554, 976 P.2d 477, 480 (1999).

³¹ Examples include the "colossal" not "ordinary" power agreement in *Asson*, 105 Idaho at 442 and *Frazier's* unnecessary conversion of a flat parking lot with a five story parking garage, which is neither a repair, nor "recognizable form of maintenance." *Frazier*, 143 at 6, 137 P.3d at 393. Conversely, once this Court determined that an airport terminal was necessary in *Peterson*, this Court did not second guess the decision to use one security system over another or where an airport wing should be; something the Caucus attempts here. *Peterson*, 93 Idaho at 776, 473 P.2d at 646.

³² The Caucus concedes that the City has legal authority to operate a municipal water system; that the proposed expenditures exceed the City's annual budget; and that the expenses are ordinary. "There is further no dispute between the parties that the Project expenses are ordinary, authorized by the general laws of the State... The dispute in this action is whether the expense ought... is 'necessary'." Brief for the Appellant, p. 6. Therefore, this Brief will focus solely on the issue of whether the expenditure is "necessary".

³³ Id. citing to City of Pocatello v. Peterson, 93 Idaho 774, 778, 473 P.2d 644, 648 (1970).

circumstances be made at or during such year; 2) can only be a temporary response to an unforeseen and immediate emergency; 3) must be compulsory; i.e. a legal necessity bereft of any local governmental discretion.

This is a misrepresentation of the *Frazier* analysis; an interpretation which, if true, would directly overturn a plethora of case law. As reiterated in *Fuhriman*:

We shall not stray from the principle of *stare decisis* without an exceptionally compelling reason to do so, particularly where doing so would be a move to embrace ambiguity over order.³⁴

This Court was careful not to overturn its previous decisions by specifically distinguishing *Frazier* from earlier decisions, notably *Peterson* and *Twin Falls*. As articulated in *Frazier*,

[t]he required urgency can result from a number of causes, such as threats to public safety, the need for repairs, maintenance, or preservation of existing property, or a legal obligation to make the expenditure without delay.³⁵

In City of Idaho Falls v. Fuhriman, this Court clarified an apparent misconception of Frazier and "recognized that repairs and maintenance satisfy the urgency requirement as they are related to public safety." ³⁶ As will be discussed herein, the continued upkeep and repair of a pre-existing, obligatory water or sewer system is easily distinguishable from a five-story parking garage.

1. <u>Pre-Frazier: New Construction versus repair / replacement and Continuity of On-Going and Long-standing Obligatory Municipal Services</u>

The early Idaho Supreme Court decisions in this arena reveal a consistent rationale

between those expenses held to be ordinary and necessary and those held not to be: new construction or the purchase of new equipment or facilities as opposed to repair, partial replacement, or reconditioning of existing facilities.³⁷

³⁴ Fuhriman, 149 Idaho at 579, 237 P.3d at 1205.

³⁵ *The City of Idaho Falls v. Fuhriman,* 149 Idaho 574, 578, 237 P.3d 1200, 1204 (2010) citing to *Frazier,* 143 at 6, 137 P.3d at 393.

³⁶ Fuhriman, 149 Idaho at 579, 237 P.3d at 1206.

³⁷ Asson v. City of Burley, 105 Idaho 432, 441-442, 670 P.2d 839 (1983). Thus, the City of Grangeville in Woodward v. City of Grangeville, 13 Idaho 652, 92 Pac. 840 (1907) was not authorized without an election to purchase a water system but the City of Nampa in Hickey v. City of Nampa, 22 Idaho 41, 124 Pac. 280 (1912) was

Later in *Peterson*, this Court characterized the issue as to "whether the repair and improvement of the municipal airport by the City of Pocatello is an ordinary and necessary expense..."38 Because the construction of an entirely new airport facility did not squarely fall within the aforementioned new construction versus repair distinction, the Court recognized a list of projectspecific factors that rendered the expenditure as necessary. The factors included: 1) the City had operated the airport since 1947 and thus it was an on-going municipal obligation; 2) the terminal would be an expansion/repair to an existing facility; 3) the facility was obsolete and inadequate to meet the needs of the public; and 4) the current facility was unsafe for travelers. ³⁹ In Asson v City of Burley, this Court cited to Peterson with approval:

In City of Pocatello v. Peterson, 93 Idaho 774, 473 P.2d 644 (1970), the court held that while repair and renovation of a municipal airport were not "inherently 'ordinary and necessary expenses' "the particular facts of that case brought them within the constitutional category. In its opinion the court stressed the upkeep and maintenance aspect of the city's expenditure. The court noted that the passenger terminal was an "unsound structure." Thus, while construction of a "wholly new terminal building" (see dissent of McFadden, J., Id. at 779, 473 P.2d at 649) might be viewed as an expenditure not traditionally considered ordinary and necessary, the court's emphasis on the obsolescence and unsafe condition of the twenty-yearold facility places it within the "repair or maintenance" line of case authority. The court may have considered the expenditure in light of the city's obligation to maintain a safe, sound structure and the concomitant potential legal liability for failure to do so, which liability might itself create an ordinary and necessary expense.40

authorized without voter approval to repair and restore its pre-existing water system. In Hickey, the water system needed improvement after it was badly damaged fighting a fire. However, in Durand v. Cline, 63 Idaho 304, 119 P.2d 891 (1941) the city of Moscow's sought after improvement to its existing waterworks system including a water storage tank in order to provide a "more adequate water supply" for better fire protection and was nonetheless deemed to be within the application of Art. 8, § 3 of the Constitution.

See also, Miller v. City of Buhl, 48 Idaho 668, 284 P. 843 (1930), (purchase of electric generating system, to be paid for from receipts from sale of power and light, held to be required to comply with Art. 8, § 3); O'Bryant v. City of Idaho Falls, 78 Idaho 313, 303 P.2d 672 (1956), (entering into agreement with natural gas distribution system to provide gas for city residents and vicinity held to be covered by requirements of Art. 8, § 3, Idaho Const.); Straughan v. City of Coeur d'Alene, 53 Idaho 494, 24 P.2d 321 (1932), (purchase by city of municipal lighting plant, and of waterworks system, held to be within application of Art. 8, § 3).

³⁸ Peterson, 93 Idaho at 776, 473 P.2d at 646.

³⁹ Peterson, 93 Idaho at 778-779, 473 P.2d at 648-649.

⁴⁰ Asson; 105 Idaho at 442, 670 P.2d at 849 citing to Peterson, 93 Idaho at 779, 473 P.2d at 649.

Similarly, in *Twin Falls* this Court ruled that "expenditures made for the purpose of improving the structure of a hospital so that it will comply with state safety standards is an ordinary and necessary expense." The factors considered by this Court included 1) that the hospital was an existing hospital facility; 2) the repairs were needed to comply with state safety requirements; 3) stressing the importance of maintaining hospitals generally versus allowing even a portion of a hospital to become inoperable. 42 "It is certainly an ordinary and necessary undertaking to keep existing hospitals operational and in good repair." 43

In Asson v. City of Burley, this Court conducted an in-depth review of the case law relating to ordinary and necessary expenses. This Court endorsed the list of factors articulated in Peterson specifically focusing on the necessity to upkeep and maintain the city's ongoing asset. 44

The court may have considered the expenditure in light of the city's obligation to maintain a safe, sound structure and the concomitant potential legal liability for failure to do so, which liability might itself create an ordinary and necessary expense.⁴⁵

The Asson Court did not base its decision on whether the expenditure was necessary, however, but rather whether it was "ordinary". The Court described the multi-jurisdictional agreement for power as a "colossal undertaking, fraught with financial risk"; open-ended without any predictability of the ultimate debt or liability.

One cannot stretch the meaning of "ordinary" to include an expense for which there could not be, until years later, certainty of limits. The funding agreement left the Idaho cities with extensive indebtedness—yet no ownership, and minimal control, and only the possibility of electricity. ... One could conceive of a number of words to describe this undertaking, but "ordinary" would not be one of them. ⁴⁶

⁴¹ Id.

⁴² Id.

⁴³ Twin Falls, 96 Idaho at 510, 531 P.2d at 600.

⁴⁴ Asson; 105 Idaho at 442, 670 P.2d at 849.

⁴⁵ Id

⁴⁶ Asson, 105 Idaho at 443, 670 P.2d at 850. Although analyzed under the "necessary" prong the proportionality analysis is closely analogous to the reasoning in Frazier wherein this Court acknowledged that although the repair

B. <u>Urgency: Does the Holding in City of Boise v. Frazier require than an expenditure must be made at or during such year to qualify as necessary?</u>

Relying upon *Frazier*, the Caucus' takes an absolutist interpretation that an expenditure can only be "necessary" if the expenditure is a temporary response to an unforeseen emergency⁴⁷ such that the expenditure must be made at or during such year.⁴⁸ The Caucus argues that because the City took three years to identify, study, and eventually adopt a solution to repair its pre-existing water system it did not constitute a temporary response to an unforeseen emergency and therefore not an expenditure that is made at or during such year per *Frazier*. "The fact that these issues have been subject to debate and discussion for such a lengthy time confirms that the Project is not urgent." The argument appears to be that since the system is still plugging along and calamity has not befallen the community in the past three years, there is no urgency and the *proviso* clause does not apply. This misrepresentation of the *Frazier* decision ignores the modern complexity of water and sewer facilities and what makes such an action distinguishable from *Frazier*: the public safety exception and the repair and maintenance exception; all of which satisfy the urgency prerequisite without a temporal limitation.

In *Frazier*, the City of Boise sought judicial confirmation for the construction of a brand new five story parking garage at the Boise Airport in place of a pre-existing flat parking lot. Though acknowledging the city's assertion that expanded parking facilities are important, even critical, to a well-functioning transportation infrastructure, the Court could find no urgent need to

and improvement of a pre-existing facility can satisfy the urgency necessity, the exception cannot be extended to allow the city to convert a flat parking lot into a five floor parking garage; an expansion "so profound as to constitute an entirely new construction in every meaningful sense." *Frazier*, 143 Idaho at 6, 137 P.3d at 393.

⁴⁷ Reviving the "Dunbar test" this Court held that to be "necessary", "there must exist a necessity for making the expenditure at or during such year." Dunbar v. Bd. Of Comm'rs of Canyon County, 5 Idaho 407, 412, 49 P. 409, 411 (1897). The Dunbar Court did not confirm the payment of rabbit scalp warrants, road fund warrants and other miscellaneous expense warrants issued by Canyon County as "necessary".

⁴⁸ Frazier, 143 Idaho at 6, 137 P.3d at 393.

⁴⁹ Brief For The Appellant, p. 12.

fund a five story parking garage at or during such year.⁵⁰ The City was successfully albeit temporarily meeting the current parking demand by shuttling drivers from offsite parking areas.⁵¹ More importantly, this Court could find no threat to the public safety or how a brand new five story parking facility constituted a repair of a flat parking lot.

Unfortunately, there are those who view "urgency" as an absolute temporal constraint such that *every* expenditure must be made at or during such year to qualify as "necessary". This is simply not true. The *Frazier* Court's analysis did not end with the revival of the *Dunbar* test. Rather, the Court carefully distinguished *Frazier*⁵²; and in aligning *Frazier* with its prior holdings, it reiterated the validity of other categories of expenses within the purview of the *proviso* clause. ⁵³

The district court accurately cited to our decisions in ... [Twin Falls and Peterson] for the proposition that expenses incurred in the repair and improvement of existing facilities can qualify as ordinary and necessary under the proviso clause. Both [cases] however, are distinguishable from this case. First, in both cases we noted the important safety implications of the proposed expenditures. In [Twin Falls] we stressed the impact of public health in relation to the proposed hospital expansion. In Peterson we noted the safety threat posed to passengers by an unsound airport passenger terminal and other facilities the City of Pocatello sought to replace. The impact on public safety found in both decisions provided the requisite urgency missing from the present case.

Second, the logic holding that repair and improvement of existing facilities can qualify as an ordinary and necessary expense, while sound, simply cannot be extended so far as to cover the circumstances of this case. Converting a flat parking lot into a five floor parking garage is not a repair, nor any recognizable form of maintenance. Likewise, while it is an "improvement" of the existing surface parking, the expansion is so profound as to constitute an entirely new construction in every meaningful sense. Accordingly, we hold that the proposed expenditure is not "necessary" within the meaning of the proviso clause in <u>Article VIII, § 3...⁵⁴.</u>

⁵⁰ Frazier, 143 Idaho at 6, 137 P.3d at 393.

⁵¹ Frazier, 143 Idaho at 5, 137 P.3d at 392.

⁵² Frazier, 143 Idaho at 6, 137 P.3d at 393.

⁵³ *Id.* Rather than overturning existing case law which conflicted with the *Dunbar* test, the Court provided a long list of prior decisions that the Court determined were "broadly consistent" with the *Dunbar* test.

⁵⁴ Frazier, 143 Idaho at 6, 137 P.3d at 393(internal citations omitted).

Accordingly, *Frazier* preserved a long line of cases in which the "necessary" prong was satisfied not by a temporal urgency as was needed by the City of Boise in the *Frazier* decision, but by an urgency created out of a public health and safety concern <u>or</u> in the continued repair and maintenance a presently existing and on-going system; both of which were completely absent in *Frazier*. In short, any literal temporal connotation of "urgency" was supplanted by these legitimate and necessary public health and safety and/or repair endeavors.

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